RECEIVED

Apr 25 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000847

Tony T. Good.....Appellant,

v.

Tomekia Means and United States
Department of Agriculture.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kyle B. Parker
POPE PARKER JENKINS, P.A.
1508 College Street
Newberry, SC 29108
Phone (803) 948-9263
Fax (803) 276-8684

Attorneys for Appellant

Newberry, South Carolina
April 25, 2022

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err in concluding waiver or estoppel cannot apply to Respondent Means' affirmative defense based on S.C. Code § 40-11-370?
- II. Did the lower court err in failing to conclude that Respondent Means waived or is otherwise estopped from asserting any affirmative defense based on S.C. Code § 40-11-370?
- III. Did the lower court err in failing to find that Respondent Means engaged in tortious conduct for which a recovery may be had by Appellant?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant filed his complaint on November 9, 2017, seeking to recover moneys from Respondent Means relating to the construction of improvements to Respondent Means' property at 342 Leaman Avenue, Whitmire, South Carolina (the "subject property") and Respondent USDA's mortgage loan to her in connection therewith. (R., pp. 26-34). The complaint asserted causes of action for specific performance, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment seeking the release to Appellant of \$37,200 in loan proceeds then believed to be held by Respondent USDA or, in the alternative, judgment against Respondent Means in such amount. (R., pp. 26-34). Respondent Means filed her answer on December 28, 2017, generally denying Appellant's allegations and asserting affirmative defenses. (R., pp. 36-43). Appellant filed his reply to Respondent Means' affirmative defenses on January 16, 2018. Respondent USDA filed its answer on January 19, 2018. (R., pp. 45-46).

Thereafter, discovery ensued, and Appellant filed a motion to compel certain discovery responses from Respondent Means on July 24, 2018. This motion was resolved prior to a hearing as evidenced by correspondence filed with the Court on September 20, 2018. After having scheduling difficulty due to USDA internal matters, the deposition of Melissa Mays, the USDA loanspecialist assigned to Respondent Means' loan, was taken on February 28, 2019.

A scheduling order was entered by the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., on March 25, 2019, wherein the court provided that the parties would file any dispositive motions on or before April 30, 2019. Respondent Means filed her motion for summary judgment on April 30, 2019, seeking to dismiss the complaint based on the operation of S.C. § 40-11-370. Respondent USDA filed its motion for summary judgment on May 2, 2019. After a

hearing, the lower court denied Respondents' motions finding that material questions of fact remained precluding summary judgment. (R., pp. 21-22).

By motion filed on October 31, 2019, Appellant moved to amend the complaint to conform to the evidence revealed in discovery and include causes of action for negligent misrepresentation, constructive fraud, fraud in the inducement and a declaration that Appellant held an equitable lien in the subject property. The lower court granted the motion after a hearing held on November 13, 2019.¹ (R., pp. 18-19).

Appellant filed his amended complaint on December 6, 2019. (R., pp. 26-34). Respondent Means filed her answer to the amended complaint on December 23, 2019. (R., pp. 36-43). Respondent Means answer was substantially similar to her initial answer. Respondent USDA filed its answer to the amended complaint on December 30, 2019, praying that the court protect its security interest in the subject property. Notably, Respondent means never asserted any claims against Appellant for defective or substandard work or otherwise.

The matter was called for trial on April 21, 2021 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and, by order dated July 1, 2021, the court denied all relief to Appellant and dismissed the complaint with prejudice. (R., pp. 2-12). Appellant served his notice on August 2, 2021.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action, which asserts, in part, that Respondent Means, owes Appellant the sum of \$37,200 for labor and materials used in the improvement of her real property located at 342 Leaman Avenue, Whitmire, South Carolina. (R., pp. 26-34).

¹ Respondent USDA filed a motion for summary judgment as to Appellant's cause of action for specific performance in response to Appellant's motion to amend that was resolved by way of Appellant's agreement to refrain from asserting such cause of action against Respondent USDA in his amended complaint. (See R., pp. 18-19).

In 2009, Respondent Means contracted with Pennyworth Homes to construct a home on the subject property. (R., p. 124, ln. 10-15). The contract amount with Pennyworth Homes to construct the home was approximately \$130,000. (R., p.129, ln. 23-R., p. 130, ln. 9). This contractor would ultimately abandon the project. (R., p. 124, ln. 10-15). Later, in 2010, Respondent Means brought suit against Pennyworth Homes that resulted in the award of an uncollectable money judgment but the absolution of Respondent Means to pay for any of the improvements made to the subject property up to that time. (R., p. 124, ln. 16-23). Respondent Means, therefore, had a home that was “over 50%” complete without having paid a single dollar out of her pocket. (R., p. 131, ln. 14-23).

More than five years later, sometime in 2015, Appellant was approached by Respondent Means regarding construction work that she needed to complete the project on the subject property. (R., p.58, ln 15-23). She went to Appellant ’s home to discuss the nature and scope of the work. (R., p.58, ln 15-23). She reported that she got Appellant’s name from another of Appellant ’s customers, thatshe admired his work, and wanted him to consider taking the job. (R., p.58, ln 15-23). After having been approached by Respondent Means on several occasions, Appellant later visited the property to assess the project. (R., p. 58, ln 25-R., p. 59, ln 16). Respondent Means was present at the time. (R. p.58, ln 25-p. 59, ln 8).

The prior contractor left the home in a state it had been roughed in with electrical and plumbing, the walls framed in, the roof completed and the home wrapped in insulation. (R., pp. 252-257; R., p.61, ln 25-p. 62, ln 18). The home had been unfinished for nearly six years before Appellant was asked to begin any work. (R., p.129, ln 21-p. 130, ln 22). It had, therefore, deteriorated from exposure in the meantime as well as being vandalized. (R., pp. 252-257; R., p.64, ln. 1-23).

At each initial meeting with Respondent Means, Appellant explained the limitations of his contractor's license. (R., p. 59, ln 17-p. 60, ln 9; R., p. 66, ln. 25-p. 67, ln. 5; R., p. 69, ln. 1-9). At the time, he was not licensed to conduct HVAC, electrical or plumbing work. (R., p. 69, ln. 1-6)². Appellant explained that those tradesmen would have to pull their own building permits and that, while Appellant would discuss the project with tradesmen he knew and trusted, their work would not be anything he would be doing. (R., p. 69, ln. 17-p. 70, ln. 6). Despite having been informed of the limitations of Appellant's license, Respondent Means insisted that he take the job. (R., p. 70, ln. 7-14).

Respondent Means asked that Appellant consult with HVAC, electrical and plumbing contractors and report to her what Appellant believed to be the total cost of the project including both the cost of these tradesmen's work and Appellant's. (R., p. 69, ln. 17-p. 70, ln. 6; R., p. 76, ln. 11-24). Appellant did so and prepared an quote as he would for any other job with Respondent Means' understanding that the work of these tradesmen would not be a part of the work he would perform. (R., pp. 258-270; R., p. 82, ln. 5-11).

Respondent Means was obtaining a loan from Respondent USDA to fund the completion of the home on the property. (R., p. 167, ln. 6-p.168, ln. 1). After having received Appellant's quote, she asked Appellant to meet her at USDA's Newberry Office in late 2015. (R., p. 70, ln. 7-18). There, she and Appellant met with Melissa Mays of the USDA in order to discuss the project and its funding. (R., p. 70, ln. 7-25).

At this meeting, Appellant, again, explained to Respondent Means and Mrs. Mays the limitations of his license. (R., p. 71, ln. 6-p. 72, ln. 7). He provided copies of his license to both Respondent Means and Mrs. Mays which describe what work Appellant is

² Appellant's license classification at that time was further limited to a contract sum of \$30,000. This amount was increased to \$50,000 shortly after December, 2015. (R., p. 119, ln. 23-p. 121, ln. 10).

licensed to do and what work he is not. (R., p. 72, ln. 21-p. 73, ln. 14). Apparently, Mrs. Mays had retrieved all pertinent information concerning Appellant 's license from SCLLR some months prior as the copies of this information attached to the subject contract was time-stamped from April 14, 2015. (R., pp. 258-270; R., p. 75, ln. 25-p. 76, ln. 22). Copies of both Appellant 's license and the information from SCLLR was provided to Respondent Means at that time. (R., p. 183, ln. 12-p. 185, ln. 22). She knew full well what Appellant had a license to do and what he did not and expressed no dissatisfaction or concern. (R., p. 185, ln. 7-p. 31, ln. 17). Nonetheless, Respondent Means asked Mrs. Mays to proceed despite any license issue. (R., p. 185, ln. 23-p. 186, ln. 3).

During the December 2015 meeting, Mrs. Mays indicated that a USDA form contract was required to get the funding of the project started. (R., pp. 258-270; R., p. 78, ln. 10-20). She then prepared the form contract and attached Appellant's quote to it to describe the work. (R., p. 180, ln. 1-p. 27, ln. 4). Apart from the construction draw schedule, neither Appellant nor Respondent Means had any participation or input into the drafting of the terms of the contract presented at the meeting. (R., p. 180, ln. 1-p. 181, ln. 20). While the contract she prepared did not specifically address the matter of the license limitations, Mrs. Mays repeatedly indicated during the meeting that the amounts payable for the HVAC, electrical and plumbing work would be backed out of the contract when that work was completed with those tradesmen securing their own subsequent USDA form contract. (R., p. 71, ln. 19-p. 80, ln. 9).

At the meeting, Respondent Means let it be known she went so far as to inquire of the Newberry County Building & Zoning Department the status of the prior building permit. She reported to Appellant that the permit of the prior contractor was still active, and insisted

that this meant that Appellant 's license limitations would not be an issue because he would not have to pull a permit at all³. (R., p. 82, ln. 5-21).

It was then explained to Appellant by Mrs. Mays and Respondent Means that an initial USDA form contract for the total costs of the project was necessary in order to close the loan and secure the funding necessary to complete the work. (R., p. 86, ln. 4-19). Respondent Means wanted to get the work started as soon as possible; so, she asked Appellant to sign the contract Mrs. Mays prepared for this purpose. (R., p. 82, ln. 15-p. 83, ln. 7). It also was explained to Appellant by both Mrs. Mays and Respondent Means that this requirement was a mere technicality and that everyone clearly understood what work he was licensed to perform and what work he was not. (R., p. 71, ln. 19-p. 80, ln. 9). Appellant has known Respondent Means since she was a child, her parents having in turn known him since he was a child, and Appellant's relatives are members at the same church as Respondent Means. (R., p. 80, ln. 1-22). So, in that context, at Respondent Means insistence and with Mrs. Mays' assurances, Appellant signed the form contract as requested relying on the agreements reached between the three at the meeting. (R., p. 79, ln. 24-p. 80, ln. 14). In fact, Appellant told both Respondent Means and Mrs. Mays that he was relying on these assurances before signing the USDA contract. (R., p. 105, ln.20-p. 106, ln. 7).

As evidence of the agreement reached at the meeting between Appellant, Respondent Means and Melissa Mays, the amount shown on the USDA form contract representing the costs of the HVAC work on the subject property was, in fact, later taken

³ Respondent Means was, of course, mistaken in assuming that a further building permit would not be required, but this is an important episode as it shows that she was (1) aware of Appellant's license limitations and (2) knowingly waiving that issue.

out of the contract total and that contractor, with Respondent Means consent, was paid directly by USDA precisely as agreed. (R., p. 364-369; R., p. 85, ln. 8-p. 86, ln. 3)⁴.

Respondent Means' loan was approved for a total of \$80,000 and closed on January 8, 2016. (Ex. 6 to Deposition of Melissa Mays, R. 301, p. 186, ln. 22-p. 189, ln. 10)⁵. Later that month, without receiving any draw from the loan proceeds, Appellant proceeded to begin the work he agreed to perform. (R., p. 271; R., p. 86, ln. 24-p. 87, ln. 9). Appellant actually made upgrades beyond the specifications for the work at no charge to Respondent Means. Brick porches were added in place of the wooden porches originally installed by the prior defunct contractor and ceramic tile flooring was installed instead of the vinyl called for in the contract. (R., p. 102, ln. 8-p. 103, ln. 19).

USDA periodically inspected the project to determine its percentage completion. The USDA contract provided that Appellant's draws would amount to only 60% of the contract amount based on the percentage completed at inspection with the remaining 40% withheld by USDA until the time of the final draw. (R., pp. 258-270). The contract also stated that Respondent Means was to approve all payments from the loan proceeds (R., pp. 258-270).

The USDA never noted any issue with the Appellant's work in any inspection it conducted. Plaintiff's Exhibit 5 is a USDA inspection report dated February 10, 2016. This inspection report notes that the project was 50% complete and notes no deficiencies with the work. Mrs. Mays completed the inspection and given there were no issues, she issued Appellant a check for his first draw. (R., p. 196, ln. 6-p.197, ln. 18). The next inspection

⁴ However, as set forth below, Appellant ultimately had to pay certain tradesmen directly from his own personal funds because Respondent Means would later go back on her word and refuse to approve any changes to or other disbursements from the construction loan. (R., p. 103, ln. 20-p. 105, ln. 19)

⁵ Respondent Means was not required to make any down payment towards the loan and had zero out of pocket expenses. (R., p. 133, ln 5-p. 134, ln. 17).

conducted by Mrs. Mays for USDA was on March 28, 2016. (R., pp. 355-356). This inspection report provides that the project was 75% complete at that time and likewise notes no deficiencies with the work. Appellant received his second draw following this inspection; he would not receive any further draws despite the fact that Appellant continued to incur costs for labor and materials supplied for the ongoing work. (R., p.93, ln.1-11)⁶. It was for this reason that Appellant was forced to pull \$20,000 from his personal savings to finance the completion of the home, \$20,000 that has never been reimbursed to him. (R., p. 103, ln. 20-p. 105, ln. 19). A portion of these funds were used by Appellant to pay tradesmen because Respondent Means, contrary to the agreements made at the December 2015 meeting, refused any changes to or further disbursements from the loan proceeds. (R., p. 105, ln. 4-15).

Nonetheless, by October of 2016, USDA had determined the home was 100% complete. (R., pp. 358-359). Newberry County conducted its final inspection and issued its certificate of occupancy. (R., p. 360; R., 363; R., p. 96, ln. 12-p. 97, ln. 9). Plaintiff's Exhibit 8 is a USDA inspection report dated October 21, 2016 indicating that the home was complete. It contains a notation that "[h]omeowner has multiple concerns which all appear to be cosmetic. The county has issued the certificate of occupancy. We [USDA] consider the home to be 100% complete". (R., pp. 358-359). This final inspection report was also signed by USDA's regional director, Timothy Ellis. (R., p. 199, ln. 10-p. 200, ln. 4). Mrs. Mays clarified that if she or her regional director had determined that any deficiencies existed with Appellant's work at this inspection, those deficiencies would be noted and the project would not have been finalized. (R., p. 200, ln. 18-p. 201, ln. 7).

⁶ The lower court erroneously found that Appellant received draws totaling \$36,800 where the record clearly shows he received two draws totaling \$33,300. (R., p. 221, ln. 6-22).

Instead, Mrs. Mays testified that USDA believed that Appellant was entitled to the final draw. (R., p. 201, ln. 10-p. 202, ln. 15).

It was only at this time, when the project was complete, that Respondent Means began to raise the issue of Appellant's license, and while she had approved all of the prior draws, she refused to sign off on the final draw. (R., p. 202, ln. 16-23; R., p. 219, ln. 15-p. 220, ln. 17). USDA, Mrs. Mays, and the regional director, Timothy Ellis, felt there was no lawful reason for Respondent Means to refuse to accept Appellant's work. (R., p. 202, ln. 24-p. 203, ln. 3).

Respondent Means nevertheless sought to justify her conduct by filing complaints with USDA, SCLLR and Newberry County concerning the quality of the work. Inspectors for USDA and Newberry County never found any problems with the work, and SCLLR found after a thorough investigation that "no violations were observed [at the property] with regards to...substandard work." (R., pp. 361-362).

As noted above, USDA did not put any credibility in her complaints. USDA considered the work complete and that Respondent Means had no reason to refuse Appellant his final draw. (R., p. 202, ln. 16-p. 203, ln. 3). Melissa Mays explained in her deposition that on one occasion she stopped by the home on her way home from work in order that Respondent Means could show her what the problem was. (R., p. 203, ln. 4-p. 204, ln. 21). Mrs. Mays did not see any issues with what Respondent Means was showing her; so, Respondent Means explained that the problem could only be seen at night with a flashlight. (R., p. 204, ln. 24-p. 206, ln.16). Again, USDA considered the project complete.

Most important for the Court's understanding of the question raised in this appeal is that Respondent Means never once mentioned to Appellant nor Mrs. Mays any objection or dissatisfaction concerning the agreement reached concerning the matter of Appellant's

license or the performance of the work until the home was entirely completed in October 2016. (R., p. 202, ln. 16-23; R., p. 219, ln. 15-p. 220, ln. 17). At that time, a USDA appraisal valued the home at \$87,000. (R., p. 190, ln. 2-p.191, ln. 20).

Nevertheless, as a result of her obstinance, USDA ultimately applied the undisbursed loan proceeds as a principal reduction to Respondent Means' loan. (R., p. 213, ln. 15-p.215, ln. 10). Therefore, after six years long years following the failure of the prior contractor, with the labor, materials and work of Appellant, Respondent Means now has a finished home valued in 2016 at \$87,000 that she is finally able to live in; yet, her mortgage has been slashed to less than half of what she originally intended.

To illustrate the shear inequity of it all, Mrs. Mays testified that in all of her 34 years with the USDA and the 2,000 to 3,000 loans she originated she had never seen something like that happen before. (R., p. 213, 22 thru p. 215, ln.14).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The complaint pleads alternative causes of action both in law and equity. When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, each retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal. Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Systems & Services, Inc., 338 S.C. 572, 527 S.E. 2d 371 (Ct. App. 2000). In an action at equity, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. West v. Newberry Electric Co-op, 357 S.C. 537, 593 S.E.2d 500 (Ct. App. 2004). Whereas a trial court's findings of fact in an action at law should not be disturbed on appeal unless they are without evidentiary support; even still, a reviewing court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court. Hunt v. Forestry Com'm, 358 S.C. 564, 595 S.E.2d 846 (Ct. App. 2004). In short, appellate

courts may correct errors of law in both legal and equity actions. S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enterprises of Mt. Pleasant, LLC, 379 S.C. 645, 667 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 2008).

ARGUMENT

The instant appeal presents a fairly straightforward question: does the Appellant have any remedy on any theory under the facts of this case? The plain and simple answer, if justice truly is based on basic concepts of right and wrong, is there just has to be.

The lower court denied all relief under each cause of action based its broad application of S.C. Code § 40-11-370(C). The lower court did not consider all of the evidence. Rather, the lower court's findings of fact ignored the record developed relating to the circumstances and the conduct of the parties attending the formation of the contract and that occurring thereafter and instead limited its findings only to the contents of the USDA contract itself and Appellant's general contractor's license concluding, as a matter of law, that all relief was barred by the statute.

For the reasons stated herein, this was error. The facts peculiar to this case provide a remedy either because Respondent Means waived the defense of S.C. Code § 40-11-370(C), should be estopped from asserting it, or because Appellant's remedy arises not from the contract at all but from her tortious conduct. In sum, South Carolina law does not sanction either Respondent Means' conduct or the inequity of the outcome represented by the lower court's ruling.

I. The Lower Court Erred in Concluding Respondent Means Did not Waive or is Otherwise Estopped from Asserting the Affirmative Defense Based on S.C. Code § 40-11-370.

The lower court correctly found that the defense provided by S.C. Code § 40-11-370(C) is not jurisdictional but is merely an affirmative defense and, as such, may be waived. (R., p. 7). However, the lower court concluded that the only means of waiving

this affirmative defense was to fail to plead it. The lower court further concluded that Respondent Means cannot be estopped from raising the defense irrespective of her knowledge of the limitations of Appellant's license or Appellant's reliance on the agreements and representations made at the initial December 2015 meeting with Mrs. Mays. This is error and the lower court's ruling should be reversed.

A The Lower Court Erred in Relying on Wagner v. Graham to Conclude Respondent Means has not Waived the Facts of This Case.

The record below is clear concerning the circumstances, representations and agreements made by the parties prior to and at the formation of the contract. In fact, the only evidence in the record concerning these matters is Appellant's testimony cited above. Therefore, it is uncontroverted (1) that Appellant had known Respondent Means since she was a child, her family had known him since he was a child, and members of Appellant's family attend church with Respondent Means; (2) that Respondent Means sought Appellant out and that the two of them met on several occasions to discuss the project; (3) that at each meeting with Respondent Means, Appellant he repeatedly discussed with her the limitations of his license⁷; (4) that despite having been informed on multiple occasions by Appellant what work he was and was not licensed to perform, Respondent Means insisted he take the job; (5) that Respondent Means was so insistent that she went to the trouble of checking with the Newberry Zoning Department about the status of the prior building permit reporting that the permit of the prior contractor was still active and maintaining that this meant that Appellant's license limitations would not be an issue because he would not have to pull a permit at all; (6) that Respondent Means asked that Appellant consult with other tradesmen to compile a quote of the costs of the whole project clearly understanding that

⁷ The lower court erroneously found that Respondent Means denied knowledge of Appellant's license limitations. (R., p. 7). However, she was not asked about and did not volunteer any testimony concerning her knowledge at trial on direct or cross examination.

it would include quotes from these other tradesmen because Appellant was not licensed to perform all of the work; (7) that despite knowledge of all of this, she presented Appellant's quote to USDA and insisted Appellant meet with USDA to discuss the project; and, (8) that Appellant only reluctantly did so because of his familiarity with her and her family.

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