RECEIVED

May 16 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000847

Tony T. Good.....Appellant,

v.

Tomekia Means and United States
Department of AgricultureRespondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TOMEKIA MEANS

Dean A. Hayes, SC Bar No. 66066
McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, P.C.
4500 Fort Jackson Blvd., Suite 250
Columbia, South Carolina 29209
Phone: (803) 724-5000 Fax: (803) 724-5001
Email: dean.hayes@mccabetrotter.com
Attorney for Respondent Tomekia Means

May 16, 2022
Columbia, South Carolina

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE APPELLANT, TONY T. GOOD, DID NOT HAVE A VALID CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE AND WAS THEREFORE BARRED FROM MAINTAINING THIS ACTION BY SC CODE § 40-11-370.

Contractor's brief did not have as an issue whether the circuit court erred in determining Contractor did not have a valid license and was therefore barred from maintaining this action by S.C. Code § 40-11-370, so Contractor should be deemed to have waived this issue. However, out of an abundance of caution, Homeowner will address this issue.

The circuit court correctly concluded that S.C. Code § 40-11-370 bars Contractor from maintaining this action. Section 40-11-370(C) states that "[a]n entity which does not have a valid

license as required by this chapter may not bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of a contract.” It is undisputed that, at the time the Contract was entered into in December 2015, Contractor had general contractor’s building license (“License”), number G197096, under the name of “Good Building” with a classification of “BD1” from the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (“LLR”). Under the “BD1” classification at that time, Contractor was licensed as a builder for construction jobs up to the amount of \$30,000.

Contractor admits that he provided the quote for \$74,000 to provide labor and materials for the Home and that he voluntarily signed the Contract. Although Contractor contends that he was not going to do all of the work under the Contract, he admitted both in his deposition and at trial that he pulled the original work permit for the construction to the Home for the amount of \$42,000, and he admits this permit was for work he was doing to the Home. It is undisputed that Good was doing “general construction” on the Home and that he was a “general contractor.” See S.C. Code §§ 40-11-20(8) (“General construction” means the installation, replacement, or repair of a building, structure, highway, sewer, grading, asphalt or concrete paving, or improvement of any kind to real property.”); and 40-11-20(9) (“General contractor” means any entity which performs or supervises or offers to perform general construction.”). There is no question that, while doing the work on the Home, Contractor exceeded the dollar amount of \$30,000 on his contractor’s license with LLR. As a matter of fact, LLR fined Contractor \$1,000 for exceeding the amount of his license by performing work on the Home.

In *C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 403 S.C. 53, 742 S.E.2d 359 (2013) the South Carolina Supreme Court decided the very issue involved in this case: whether a contractor who is licensed by LLR but exceeds his license amount may maintain an action to enforce a contract. In *C-*

Sculptures, the contract price was in excess of \$800,000, but the contractor, C-Sculptures, LLC, had a license that limited it to construction contracts that did not exceed \$100,000. *C-Sculptures*, 403 S.C. at 55, 742 S.E.2d at 360. A dispute arose between C-Sculptures and the Browns, for whom the construction was being done, and the arbitrator deciding the dispute decided in favor of C-Sculptures. *Id.* The arbitrator’s award was thereafter affirmed by both the circuit court and the court of appeals. *Id.*

The South Carolina Supreme Court granted a writ of certiorari and held the arbitrator “manifestly disregarded the law in declining to dismiss the action” filed by C-Sculptures. *Id.* at 360-61. The Court stated that “the plain language of section 40-11-370(C) is clear, defined, explicit, and unquestionably applicable, yet the arbitrator simply chose to ignore it.” *Id.* The Court stated that it was undisputed that C-Sculptures was “general contractor” that performed “general construction” within the meaning of S.C. Code §§ 40-11-20(8) and (9). *Id.* The Court then quoted S.C. Code § 40-11-30, which states “No entity or individual may practice as a contractor by performing or offering to perform contracting work for which the total cost of construction is greater than five thousand dollars for general contracting . . . *without a license issued in accordance with this chapter.*” *Id.* (emphasis in original).

Finally, the Court cited S.C. Code § 40-11-370. Section 40-11-370(A) states: “It is unlawful to use the term “licensed contractor” or to perform or offer to perform general or mechanical construction without first obtaining a license as required by this chapter.” *Id.* Section 40-11-370(C) states that an “entity which does not have a *valid license* as required by this chapter may not bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of a contract.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). The Court stated that “[t]he term ‘valid’ is clear and unambiguous, and leaves no room for statutory construction.” *Id.* Since C-Sculptures did not have the appropriate

license for the contract, the Court held C-Sculptures could not bring the action to enforce the contract. *Id.* C-Sculptures attempted “to avoid the door-closing effect of section 40-11-370(C) by claiming it was merely ‘under-licensed,’” but the Court again stated that the word “valid” was without ambiguity and held C-Sculptures did not have a valid license. *Id.*

The *C-Sculptures* case is on point with the present case. Although Contractor disputes that he was to perform the full \$74,000 of work to be completed under the terms of the Contract, he admits that he was personally going to perform work in the amount of \$42,000. It is undisputed that Contractor was only licensed by LLR for contracts up to the amount of \$30,000, therefore, since Contractor did not have a valid license for the Contract, § 40-11-370(C) bars Contractor from maintaining this action. Therefore, the circuit did not err in concluding that § 40-11-370(C) Contractor is barred from maintaining this action against Homeowner.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE CONDUCT OF THE RESPONDENT, TOMEKIA MEANS, DID NOT PRECLUDE HER FROM ASSERTING THE DEFENSE SET FORTH IN S.C. CODE § 40-11-370 WHEN RESPONDENT MEANS SET FORTH § 40-11-370 AS AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE IN RESPONDENT MEANS’S ANSWER TO APPELLANT’S AMENDED COMPLAINT.

Contractor has set forth several issues on appeal regarding whether circuit court erred in determining that Homeowner did not waive or was not estopped from asserting the bar of S.C. Code § 40-11-370. Another of Contractor’s issues on appeal is whether the circuit court erred in failing to find Homeowner’s allegedly tortious conduct prevented Homeowner from asserting the bar of § 40-11-370. Homeowner believes that all of these issues on appeal can be condensed down to one issue: whether the circuit court erred in determining that Homeowner, who set forth §40-11-370 as an affirmative defense in her answer to the Contractor’s amended complaint, was not precluded from asserting this defense by Homeowner’s allegedly wrongful conduct.

First, Homeowner did not, as asserted by Contractor, commit any tortious conduct. Contractor has failed to carry his burden to prove any of the causes of action against Homeowner. Contractor would have you believe that Homeowner lured him into this trap by promising that she would not use the limits of his license against him. However, neither Melissa Mays nor Homeowner stated that they were aware of the dollar limitations of Contractor's license at the time the Contract was signed. Contractor was definitely aware that his license prevented him from contracting to do work on a project costing more than \$30,000, and Contractor entered into the Contract anyway. Also casting doubt on the Contractor's allegations is the fact that throughout this case Contractor has been evasive about the limits of his license.

Second, the case law is clear that S.C. Code § 40-11-370 is a total bar to enforcing a contract if the contractor does not have a valid license. Contractor asserts that the bar of S.C. Code § 40-11-370 may be waived, and this is, to an extent, true. Section 40-11-370 is an affirmative defense, and like any affirmative defense, it may be waived by the failure to assert the defense in a responsive pleading. *See C-Sculptures*, 403 S.C. at 57-58, 742 S.E.2d at 361-62 (discussing cases where the defendant failed to plead Section 40-11-370 as a defense); *Earthscapes Unlimited Inc. v. Ulbrich*, 390 S.C. 609, 703 S.E.2d 221 (2010) (40-11-370 is affirmative defense and the failure to plead an affirmative defense is deemed a waiver of the right to assert it); *Madren v. Bradford*, 378 S.C. 187, 661 S.E.2d (Ct. App. 2008) (statutory prohibition is in the nature of an affirmative defense and should be pled); and *Costa and Sons Constr. Co, Inc. v. Long*, 306 S.C. 465, 412 S.E.2d 450 (Ct. App. 1991) (statute does not involve subject matter jurisdiction and may be waived by failing to assert it in responsive pleading).

In the present case, Homeowner, both in her answer to the original complaint and in her answer to the amended complaint, clearly did plead § 40-11-370 as a defense, therefore, she has not waived the statutory protection.

Contractor argues that Homeowner knew that Contractor did not have a valid license for the work on the Home and that since Homeowner allegedly had this knowledge and was allegedly encouraging Contractor to perform the work, Homeowner is estopped or has waived her right to the protection of S.C. Code § 40-11-370. First, as stated above, Homeowner denies having this knowledge. Second, even if Homeowner did have this knowledge, the South Carolina Court of Appeals has specifically held that a homeowner's knowledge that a contractor did not have a valid license would not prevent the application of the statute. In *Wagner v. Graham*, 296 S.C. 1, 370 S.E.2d 95 (Ct. App. 1988), the Court, faced with this argument, stated:

The law of estoppel is simply inapplicable to the facts of this case. Assuming, without so deciding, that it might be found by the preponderance of the evidence that the Homeowner was at the time of the agreement aware of the fact that the Contractor did not have a valid license, it would be of no comfort to the Contractor. The statute, as enacted by the Legislature, is for the benefit of the public. If one might avoid the impact of the statute by applying the law of estoppel, one could, by a similar reasoning, avoid the act by agreement between the Contractor and Homeowner. Clearly this would not be allowed.

Wagner, 296 S.C. at 3, 370 S.E.2d at 96.

Contractor alleges that *Wagner* is distinguishable from the present case. However, if, as stated in *Wagner*, a contractor and a homeowner could not, by agreement, prevent the application of § 40-11-370, then Contractor cannot prevent the application of the statute in this case. The language of § 40-11-370(C) is clear and unambiguous: "An entity which does not have a valid license as required by this chapter may not bring an action *either at law or in equity* to enforce the provisions of a contract." (emphasis added). Every cause of action asserted by Contractor in his

amended complaint is either legal or equitable, and all of the causes of action are based on the Contract with Homeowner.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that a contractor who was unlicensed at the time the contract was entered into but obtained a license prior to the home being completed was barred from enforcing the contract. *Duckworth v. Cameron*, 270 S.C. 647, 244 S.E.2d 217 (1978). In *Roberta, Inc. v. Trust*, 274 S.C. 53, 260 S.E.2d 818 (1979), the contractor tried to argue that, either on a theory of contract, quantum meruit, or unjust enrichment, a prior version of the statute “should not be so construed as to bar recovery by an unlicensed builder for amounts paid to third parties for labor and materials used in construction, at least, to the extent that the landowner was benefitted.” *Roberta*, 274 S.C. at 54, 260 S.E.2d at 818. “In other words, [contractor] argues that the statute should be construed to prevent any benefit or profit to the unlicensed builder, but should not bar recovery for labor and materials used in the construction from which the unlicensed builder received no profit and from which the landowner received a benefit.” *Id.* at 818. The Court stated that it found “no basis in the statute for this construction” and denied recovery by the contractor. *Id.* at 818-19.